IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS 

RALPH TERRY, WARDEN, 
STEVENS CORRECTIONAL CENTER, 

Respondent Below, Petitioner 

v. Case No. 16-1156 

BOBBY ROSS, 

Petitioner Below, Respondent 


PETITIONER'S BRIEF

I. INTRODUCTION 

Now comes Ralph Terry, Warden, Stevens Correctional Center ("the petitioner" herein), 

by and through his counsel, Brooks H. Crislip, Deputy Attorney General, and asserts that the 

lower court in this matter erred in granting the below Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus of 

Bobby Ross ("the respondent" or "Mr. Ross" herein). 

The respondent was convicted and incarcerated for approximately twenty-six years for 

crimes involving sexual abuse, burglary and robbery. His lengthy sentence was the result of the 

violent nature of his crimes, his character and his psychological profile. 1 However, having been 

granted parole on May 15, 2014, the respondent was again taken into custody on December 3, 

2014 for parole violations a mere nine months after his release. Upon his ultimate revocation, 

the respondent filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Circuit Court of Kanawha 

County. 

1 "In view of the nature of the offense committed, as well as the nature of the defendant's character, his 
psychological profile, and his previous behavior, this Court cannot conclude that the attempted aggravated robbery 
sentence imposed upon him by the Circuit Court of Kanawha County violates the proportionality principle contained 
in Article III, § 5 of the West Virginia Constitution as alleged by the defendant or that his conviction should be 
reversed on the ground that the sentence is disproportionate." State v. Ross, 184 W.Va. 579, 402 S.E.2d 248 (1990). 



On September 15, 2016, the circuit court entered an order denying the respondent's 

Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, specifically finding that Mr. Ross repeatedly violated his 

parole, that the ban on sexual offenders living in a residence with a computer with internet access 

is reasonable, and that the Parole Board was not limited to imposing graduated sanctions for the 

violations alleged and proven. The order expressly found " ... there is ample evidence to support 

the [Parole] Board's decision. The [Parole] Board's action was not flagrant, unwarranted or 

unauthorized." [Emphasis added.] However, on November 10, 2016, the circuit court sua 

sponte and absent a motion to reconsider inexplicably entered a second order vacating its prior 

order and granting the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The second order almost entirely 

contradicted the first, despite a lack of new or additional evidence or testimony from either party. 

In its second, and final, order granting the writ, the circuit court erred in determining that 

the respondent's parole should not have been revoked despite his violation of a sex offender 

special condition of parole. The circuit court further erred in determining that revocation of the 

respondent's parole based upon his plea of guilty in his parole revocation hearing to three 

separate instances of smoking marijuana was disproportionate, unwarranted and a departure from 

the applicable graduated parole revocation sanctions for minor offenses. 

The petitioner asserts the Parole Board's action was neither arbitrary nor capricious, that 

it properly found the respondent to have knowingly and intentionally violated conditions of 

parole on numerous occasions, and that the respondent was not entitled to graduated sanctions. 

Further, even if this Court determines that respondent's parole should not have been revoked, the 

petitioner's appropriate relief would be an additional parole hearing. The decision to grant or 

revoke parole is uniquely within the purview of the Parole Board, part of the executive branch of 

government, and it is the Parole Board which possesses the necessary information to determine 
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whether any conduct of respondent since his incarceration would render him ineligible for parole 

at this time. A grant of parole by the circuit court is erroneous judicial overreach. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 The circuit court erred when it found that respondent's proximity to a computer with 
internet access in his approved residence was not a violation of the special conditions of 
his parole. 

2. 	 The circuit court erred when it found that respondent's admission to three separate 
instances of smoking marijuana was insufficient grounds for parole revocation. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In March, 1987, the respondent sexually abused, burglarized, and attempted to rob a 

female in her home. A jury convicted him of burglary, first degree sexual abuse, and attempted 

aggravated robbery. As a result of those convictions, the respondent was sentenced to 

consecutive terms of one to fifteen years for burglary, one to five years for sexual abuse, and one 

hundred years for attempted aggravated robbery. State v. Ross, 184 W. Va. 579,402 S.E.2d 248 

(l990l After his conviction and sentencing were affirmed upon appeal, the respondent 

mounted numerous post-conviction challenges, none ofwhich were successful. 

The respondent was granted parole in May of 2014. He violated parole less than nine 

months later. The respondent was given notice of his violations and afforded a parole hearing 

during which he had the assistance of legal counsel. 

At the March 26, 2105 parole revocation hearing, the respondent pleaded guilty to three 

of the violations contained in the notice of violation, which dealt with three separate instances on 

three separate days during which the respondent possessed and smoked marijuana. (Parole Board 

2 It is important to note that this Court found that this one-hundredyear determinate sentence was not 
disproportionate. Mr. Ross exhibited behavior of a person who is an extreme risk to society. According to the 
reported opinion, Mr. Ross's violent assault of the victim was interrupted only by her screams being overheard by a 
neighbor and the rapid response of law enforcement. Ross, at 249. 
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Hearing Transcript at 6.) (Exhibit A) Charges 3 and 43 were combined for evidentiary purposes. 

(ld at 8.) 

Among the items presented to the Parole Board was State's Exhibit Number 2 "which is 

the voluntary admission dated December 3rd, in which Mr. Ross signed stating that he was 

admitting that he was in possession of a computer at that time." (Id at 9.) Although the 

respondent's counsel asserted that the admission was not knowing and voluntary, the exhibit was 

permitted into evidence. (ld) 

West Virginia State Police Corporal C.M. Mayes was the first witness called, and she 

testified that she arrested the respondent for violation of his sex offender registration 

requirements in that the respondent was living in a residence (his girlfriend's) and she, the 

girlfriend, admitted that at the residence was a laptop, with internet access, and that she had the 

laptop at the residence for at least four months. (Id at 11-12.) The respondent denied that it was 

his computer. (ld at 12.) 

State's Exhibit 1 in the parole revocation hearing, which contains the conditions of 

parole, " ...clearly states will not possess or have contact with any computer, electronic device, 

communicative device or any device which is enabled to the internet access." (ld at 18.) 

Although the respondent apparently had faced a new felony offense of failing to update his 

registration information, that charge was dismissed. (Id) 

Ms. White, petitioner's girlfriend thereafter testified generally that the computer was her 

property, the internet access was in her name, the computer was password protected, and she did 

not provide the respondent the password. (Id at 18,23.) Although Ms. White testified that she 

3 Charge 3 alleged that on December 3,2014 respondent manifested behavior that could result in imprisonment by 
being arrested for the felony offense of failure to register as a sex offender as required by W.Va. Code 15-12
2(d)(8). Charge 4 alleged respondent violated the rules and regulations of his parole release in that on December 3, 
2014 he was found to be in possession ofa computer with internet access. Both allegations arose from the proximity 
to the computer with internet access. 
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had the computer and internet access for three, going on four years (ld. at 24), she did not tell the 

parole officer when he visited her home that the home had internet access, and in fact told the 

parole officer and state police that she'd had internet access for four months. (Jd. at 25.) She 

acknowledged there were times when she was not home, and the respondent was, and that he 

could have used her computer when she was not there. (ld. at 26.) 

Mr. Ross also testified, and he acknowledged moving in with Ms. White and that there 

was a computer in her home. (Id. at 29.) Although he denied using the computer, he 

acknowledged that he understood how "internet stuff' works. (ld.) Further, when examined 

about the admission form which contained his admission that he had access to the computer the 

petitioner said "Yes, I mean, that it was there." (ld. at 32.) 

The respondent acknowledged that he knew the computer was in the home when he 

moved in there and never mentioned the computer to his parole officer. (ld.) 

His parole officer noted that he was not permitted to have access to a computer, and in 

fact, he was in a home in which there was a computer which was connected to the internet to 

which the respondent had access. (ld. at 37.) The Parole Board revoked parole indicating that it 

had taken "everything" into consideration. 

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

"The decision to grant or deny parole is a discretionary evaluation to be made by the 

West Virginia Board of Probation and Parole. However, such a decision shall be reviewed by 

this Court to determine if the Board of Probation and Parole abused its discretion by acting in an 

arbitrary and capricious fashion." State ex rei. Stollings v. Haines, 212 W.Va. 45, 50, 569 S.E.2d 

121, 126 (2002). 
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The relevant standards for the revocation of parole are set forth in W.Va. Code § 62

12-19(a)(2)(A) and (B) which state, in pertinent part: 

When a parolee is in custody for a violation of the conditions of his or her parole, he 
or she shall be given a prompt and summary hearing before a Parole Board panel[.] 

(A) If at the hearing it is determined that reasonable cause exists to believe that the 
parolee has ... [a ]bsconded supervision ... [c]ommitted new criminal conduct other than 
a minor traffic violation or simple possession of a controlled substance ... or [v]iolated 
a special condition of parole design to protect either the public or a victim; the panel 
may revoke his or her parole and may require him or her to serve in a state 
correctional institution the remainder or any portion of his or her maximum sentence 
for which, at the time of his or her release, he or she was subject to imprisonment. 

(B) If the Parole Board panel finds that reasonable cause exists to believe that the 
parolee has violated a condition of release or supervision other than the conditions of 
parole set forth in subparagraph (A). subdivision (2) of this subsection, the panel 
shall require the parolee to serve, for the first violation, a period of confinement up to 
sixty days or, for the second violation, a period of confinement up to one hundred 
twenty days unless the Parole Board makes specific written findings of fact that a 
departure from the specific limitations of this paragraph is warranted[.] [Emphasis 
added.] 

W.Va. Code § 62-12-17 grants broad authority to the Division of Corrections in 

determining appropriate conditions of release on parole: "the Division of Corrections may 

impose, subject to modification at any time, any other conditions which the division 

considers advisable." A special condition of parole release for sex offenders is a prohibition 

on possessing or having contact with an internet-enabled computer. 

W.Va. Code § 15-12-2(d) provides that "(c) Any person who has been convicted of a 

criminal offense and the sentencing judge made a written finding that the offense was sexually 

motivated shall also register as set forth in this article." Further: "(d) Persons required to 

register under the provisions of this article shall register in person at the West Virginia State 

Police detachment responsible for covering the county of his or her residence, and in doing so, 

provide or cooperate in providing, at a minimum, the following when registering: '" (8) 
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Information relating to any Internet accounts the registrant has and the screen names, user names 

or aliases the registrant uses on the Internet." 

A ban on residing in a home with a computer was affirmed in State v. Hargus, 232 W.Va. 

735, 753 S.E.2d 893 (2013). 

After approximately nine (9) months into his parole, the respondent admittedly smoked 

marijuana on three (3) occasions, and he resided in a home with a computer with internet access 

which he did not disclose to his parole officer. Therefore, clear and convincing evidence existed 

that respondent violated both a special condition of his parole designed to protect the public and 

condition of his parole prohibiting his use of illegal drugs. For the reasons set forth below, either 

violation would be sufficient cause to revoke the parole of respondent. The first order of the 

circuit court, therefore, was correct. The second, sua sponte order, was in error. 

V. 	 STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Pursuant to Rule 18(a), of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument IS 

unnecessary as "the dispositive issue or issues have been authoritatively decided" and "the facts 

and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefl.] and record on appeal, and the 

decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument," unless the Court 

determines that other issues arising upon the record should be addressed. If the Court determines 

that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition 

by memorandum decision. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

1. 	 The respondent was not entitled to graduated sanctions for violating a sex 

offender special condition ofhis parole. 
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As set forth above, W.Va. Code § 62-12-19(a)(2)(B) mandates shorter periods of "shock" 

incarcerations for certain parole violations. However, specifically excluded from that 

consideration for that treatment are violations of special conditions of parole design to protect 

either the public or a victim. In other words, if a parolee violates a special condition of 

parole of this sort, he or she is removed from consideration for graduated sanctions. Absent 

relief available under this subsection therefore, the code expressly grants discretion to the 

Parole Board under W.Va. Code § 62-12-19(a)(2)(A) to revoke a person's parole and require 

him or her to serve in a state correctional institution the remainder or any portion of his or 

her maximum sentence. 

The respondent violated a special term of his parole designed to protect the public, in that 

he knowingly and voluntarily resided in a home where he had access to a computer that was 

connected to the internet. As is clear from the hearing transcript, it is a special condition for 

sexual offenders in general, and Mr. Ross in particular that sexual offenders not possess or have 

access to computers with internet access. (Hrg. Tr. At 18.) That is a special condition designed 

to protect the public from sexual offenders. Violation of that condition alone justified the 

revocation and removed the respondent from consideration for graduated sanctions. 

"The West Virginia Board of Probation and Parole must obey legislation and must act in 

a way which is not unreasonable capricious or arbitrary." Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rei. Eads v. Dunci/, 

196 W. Va. 604, 474 S.E.2d 534 (1996). However, that very same opinion notes that arbitrary, 

capricious and unreasonable conduct is difficult to define. Eads at 614, 474 S.E.2d at 544. The 

West Virginia Supreme Court has also noted that judicial review of decisions of the Parole Board 

is circumscribed and that if there is "some" evidence in the record to support the Board's 
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decision it will be affirmed unless the action is flagrant, unwarranted or unauthorized. Southern 

v. Burgess, 198 W. Va. 518 at 522, 482 S.E.2d 135 at 138 (1996.) 

In this instance, and simply put, the respondent was specifically disallowed to "possess or 

have contact with any computer, electronic device or any device which is enabled with internet 

access." [Emphasis added.] The respondent makes much of his lack of sophistication regarding 

computers and his unfamiliarity with them and the internet because of his lengthy incarceration, 

but chooses to ignore the facts that the he was released on parole months before his revocation, 

had plenty of time to familiarize himself with computers and admits familiarity with the internet. 

However, these sex offender special conditions of parole are not mere guidelines which may be 

arbitrarily ignored by a parolee. They are designed to protect the public at large from persons 

who have been convicted of offenses involving the sexual victimization of others. The 

respondent admitted his awareness that the internet-enabled computer was in the house, and he 

failed to report the same or seek authorization to live in the residence with the computer. 

Nor can the respondent assert that the special term of computer ban is in itself arbitrary 

and capricious. Such bans have been affirmed in federal and state courts across the country, and 

moreover, have been affirmed in West Virginia. A ban on residing in a home with a computer 

was affirmed in State v. Hargus, 232 W.Va. 735, 753 S.E.2d 893 (2013) as not being 

unconstitutionally restrictive. Although the circumstances of the underlying offenses do differ in 

ldargus and the respondent's case, the ban was nonetheless upheld. 

The Parole Board's decision that Mr. Ross's contact with an internet-enabled computer in 

his place of residence justified his immediate revocation was warranted by ample evidence. It 

was neither a flagrant nor unauthorized abuse of discretion. The order of the circuit court that 
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the revocation based upon the respondent's contact with this computer was unconstitutional is 

erroneous and unsupported by law. 

The respondent was also found guilty of manifesting behavior that could result in his 

imprisonment by being arrested for the felony offense of failure to register as a sex offender as 

required by W.Va. Code § lS-12-2(d)(8). As set forth above, registered sex offenders are 

required to provide in their registration information relating to any internet accounts the 

registrant has and the screen names, user names or aliases the registrant uses on the internet. The 

prefatory clause listing the mandatory items for registration clearly indicates the list is the 

"minimum" amount of information required to be provided. The respondent knew he resided in 

a home with an internet-enabled computer, yet he failed to provide this information to the proper 

authorities upon his registration or evidently seek clarification as to whether disclosure was 

required. Whether this contact with a computer constitutes an internet account is a matter for 

this Court to determine. However, even considering this allegation in the light most favorable to 

the respondent, his contact with the internet-enabled computer alone was sufficient to justify his 

revocation as set forth above. 

In addition to the clear violation of a sex offender special condition of parole, the 

respondent admitted that on at least three occasions he violated the law of the State of West 

Virginia by using marijuana. Although the code provides that a parolee shall be granted 

graduated sanctions for simple possession of a controlled substance, the code quite clearly limits 

such graduated sanctions to two violations. W. Va Code § 62 -12-19(a)(1)(B) provides that if 

the parole board determines that the parolee violated parole by simple possession of a controlled 

substance, the panel shall require the parolee to serve for the first violation a period of 

confinement ofup to sixty days and for the second violation a period of confinement ofup to one 
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hundred twenty days. [Emphasis added.] However, the respondent's repeated use of marijuana 

also excludes him from the graduated sanctions because he was charged with, and admitted to 

three separate and distinct violations regarding possession and use of a controlled substance. 

Therefore, the graduated sanctions do not apply, and the respondent's parole was correctly 

revoked and he was correctly returned to the custody of the Division of Corrections to continue 

serving his underlying sentence. 

This Court has also affirmed the revocation of parole based upon what petitioners have 

termed to be minor or technical violations. For example, a parole revocation was affirmed based 

upon the parolee's actions in violating curfew even though he violated curfew as a direct result 

of his employment, driving a vehicle for about mile and buying-but not consuming-beer. 

State ex ref. Patton v. Rubenstein, 213 W. Va. 296 at 299, 582 S.E.2d 743 at 746 (2003.) The 

Supreme Court noted there was no abuse of the Board's discretion to implement less restrictive 

alternative than revocation of parole and return to prison. 

The failure to impose "graduated" sanctions was affirmed in a case which, while dealing 

with probation, nonetheless addressed the issue of the violation of a special term designed to 

protect the public or the victim. The language in question in State v. Krystal M, Memorandum 

Decision, West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals issued on April 13, 2015 in 14-0737 

involved "a special condition of probation designed to protect the public or victim ...." (Krystal 

M at *2). W. Va. Code § 62-12-19 notes that if a parolee violates "a special condition of parole" 

designed to protect the public or a victim, the penalty is imprisonment. 

Therefore, the language in Krystal M and the parole statute is identical. The petitioner in 

Krystal M noted that her violations were merely "technical" as they were jail phone calls and 

argued for graduated sanctions. "Even if this amounted to 'technical violations' of the terms and 
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conditions of parole, we would find no abuse of the court's discretion." (Id at *3). Although 

that petitioner made 63 phone calls, and in the instant case the respondent smoked marijuana on 

three occasions as well as possessing and having contact with an internet-enabled computer, the 

decision in Krystal M is pertinent that upon the third seemingly minor violation, the court, and 

by analogy, the Parole Board are not limited to imposing the graduated sanctions. 

When one combines the respondent's access to an internet-enabled computer, his 

repeated use of controlled substances (violations of West Virginia law), and his lack of candor in 

reporting to his parole officer that he had contact with a computer, the Parole Board's decision 

was neither arbitrary nor capricious, and was fully supported by law as originally ruled by the 

circuit court. 

Mr. Ross was not entitled to parole; the Parole Board in its discretion determined that he 

deserved a chance at parole. Mr. Ross almost immediately abused the trust placed in him by the 

board by repeatedly violating West Virginia law in his possessing and smoking marijuana. He 

also violated a special term of parole designed to protect the public by possessing and having 

contact with an internet-enabled computer. As noted at the hearing, it was not required that the 

State prove that he was using it constantly to peruse pornographic sites on the web; he violated 

the special term and admitted that he did. Moreover, the respondent's lack of candor regarding 

the computer in the household by failing to mention the computer to his parole officer-when 

they met every Friday-is troubling as well. 

The respondent repeatedly violated his parole. Although he attempts to characterize his 

violations as "technical" and minor our Supreme Court has found that the ban on sexual 

offenders being in a household where there is a computer to be reasonable, as in Hargus, supra, 

and further has found that after two violations, the revoking authority is not limited to imposing 
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graduated sanctions, as in Krystal M, supra. Judicial review of parole decision is quite 

circumscribed, and if there is "some" evidence in the record to support the Board's decision it 

will be affirmed unless the action is flagrant, unwarranted or unauthorized. Southern v. Burgess, 

198 W. Va. 518 at 522, 482 S.E.2d 135 at 138 (1996.) 

Here there is ample evidence to support the Board's decision. The decision of the Parole 

Board should be affirmed, and the November 10, 2016 order of the circuit court should be 

reversed. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

The petitioner, Ralph Terry, Warden of the Stevens Correctional Center, respectfully 

requests that this Court reverse the judgement of the Kanawha County Circuit Court, and 

reinstate the decision of the Parole Board, which properly determined that the parole of the 

respondent Bobby Ross should have been revoked. 

WEST VIRGINIA PAROLE BOARD 
and RALPH TERRY, WARDEN 

SB #10521)