DOCKET NO. 16-1156 


RALPH TERRY, WARDEN 
STEPHENS CORRECTIONAL CENTER, 

Respondent Below, Petitioner 

v. Appeal from a Final Order of the 
Circuit Court of Kanawha County 


BOBBY ROSS, (15-P-322) 


Petitioner Below, Respondent. 

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Despite the broad discretion afforded the West Virginia 

Board of Probation and Parole, the court below appropriately 

~ound that the Board abused its discretion by acting in an 

arbitrary and capricious fashion, under State ex reI. Stollings 

v. Haines, 212 W. Va. 45, 569 S.E.2d 121 (2002). No facts were 

developed at the revocation hearing on March 26, 2015 to support 

charges 3 (failure to report) and 4 (possession of a computer 

with internet access) above. Additionally, the time served by 

Respondent on three counts of simple possession far exceeds all 



applicable sentencing and Respondent should have been entitled 

to the sixty- or one hundred twenty-day "shocker" period as 

opposed to the nearly 900 days he has been incarcerated since 

the Parole Board hearing. 

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondent submits that, pursuant to R.A.P. 18, oral 

argument is unnecessary in light of the Amended Final Order 

entered by the court below, which decides the dispositive issues 

raised in this appeal. If the Court determines that oral 

argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 

argument and disposition by memorandum decision. 

VI . ARGUMENT 

A. 	Respondent Did Not Violate W. Va. Code § lS-12-2(d)(8) 
Because There Is No Evidence He Actually or Constructively 
Possessed a Computer, Internet Account, User Name, or 
Screen Name 

The charge in this case was based upon Respondent allegedly 

failing to report a laptop computer which was in the home where 

he lived. Prior to Respondent's release for parole, Respondent's 

parole officer searched the home of Philippa White before 

Respondent was permitted to reside there. Ms. White possessed 

the same password protected laptop at the time of this search 

that the State now cites as grounds for Respondent's parole 

revocation. 



West Virginia Code §15-12-2(d)(8) requires reporting 

"Information relating to any Internet accounts the registrant 

has and the screen names, user names or aliases the registrant 

uses on the Internet". First, the uncontroverted testimony at 

Mr. Ross' parole hearing was that the underlying criminal charge 

which formed the basis for Charge 3 was dismissed because the 

State had no evidence that the Petitioner had failed to report 

the information required by §15-12-2(d)(8). The reason that the 

Petitioner did not report any information as described in §15

12-2(d)(8) is that he did not have any Internet account. 

Second, the uncontroverted testimony was that the computer was 

password protected and the Petitioner did not know that 

password. No testimony or other evidence has ever been offered 

that Mr. Ross could or did use this password protected computer 

to access the internet, or do anything else - the same computer 

that Mr. Ross' parole officer knew or reasonably should have 

known was in the residence subsequent to his preliminary search. 

The lack of any evidence whatsoever even suggesting Mr. Ross had 

internet accounts, user names, or screen names falls far short 

of the requirement of "some" evidence to uphold a Parole Board 

decision such as this one. See Southern v. Burgess, 198 W. Va. 

518, 521 (1996). Not only is this Parole Board decision 

arbitrary and capricious, but also egregious and disingenuous, 

as based upon an object in the location of his parole that was 



present at the time the location was approved for Respondent's 

residence. 

State v. Hargus, 232 w. Va. 735, 753 S.E.2d 893 (2013) is 


inapplicable here due to vastly different underlying 


circumstances. 1 First, the failure to report a computer in the 

place of parole was just one of Mr. Hargus' omissions in 

reporting to the Parole Board. He further failed to report an 

alias, social security number, and accurate birth date. Id. Mr. 

Ross has reported all other information required of him 

accurately. Moreover, and most distinctly, Mr. Hargus had 

previously shown a propensity for downloading sexually explicit 

material involving minors. No evidence is before this court that 

shows any ability, much less propensity, of Mr. Ross to download 

anything at all. The reasons for upholding the ban in Mr. 

Hargus' case were backed by "some" evidence that sufficed to 

uphold the Parole Board's decision. Again, no such evidence has 

been adduced as pertains to Mr. Ross; there is certainly not 

"ample" evidence as Petitioner alleges. 

B. 	Not Applying the Provisions of West Virginia Code §62-12-19 
to Respondent's Case Resulted in Disproportionate 
Punishment for Simple Possession 

First, it must be understood that Respondent pled guilty to 

have used a controlled substance subsequent to the granting of 

I Petitioner also submits the underlying circumstances in this case are divergent from Hargus. Petitioner's Brief, p. 
9. 



his parole. Such use, standing alone is simple possession. Such 

a 	 distinction is crucial because W. Va. Code. §62-12-19(a)(1) 

states: 

(1) 	 If reasonable cause is found to exist that a 
parolee has violated a term or terms of his or her 
release on parole that does not constitute: 

(A) Absconding supervision; 
(B) New criminal conduct other than a minor traffic 
violation or simple possession of a controlled 
substance; or 
(C) Violation of a special condition of parole 
designed either to protect the public or a victim; the 
parole officer may, after consultation with and 
written approval by the director of parole services, 
for the first violation, require the parolee to serve 
a period of confinement up to sixty days or, for the 
second violation, a period of confinement up to one 
hundred twenty days 

As admitted by his guilty plea, Respondent did commit 

8imple possession of a controlled substance but did not commit 

new criminal conduct other than a minor traffic violation. 

Therefore, Respondent should have been required to serve a 

period of confinement of up to sixty days, or at the very least 

to be considered under this Code section, and, if he were going 

to be denied the benefit of its provisions, to be told why. 

Second, even if the actions of the parole officer were 

correct in denying Respondent the benefit of §62-12-19(a)(1), he 

was entitled to the benefit of West Virginia Code § 62-12

19(2)(B): 

(B) If the Parole Board panel finds that reasonable 
cause exists to believe that the parolee has violated 



a condition of release or supervision other than the 
conditions of parole set forth in subparagraph (A), 
subdivision (2) of this subsection, the panel shall 
require the parolee to serve, for the first violation, 
a period of confinement up to sixty days or, for the 
second violation, a period of confinement up to one 
hundred twenty days unless the Parole Board makes 
specific written findings of fact that a departure 
from the specific limitations of this paragraph is 
warranted_ 

Again, Respondent only committed simple possession of a 

controlled substance. He did not commit new criminal conduct 

other than a minor traffic violation. Therefore, unless the 

Parole Board made specific written findings of fact why the 

departure from the sanction required by the statute was 

warranted, the Parole Board was mandated to require Respondent 

serve a period of confinement of not more than sixty days, as 

opposed to the nearly nine hundred days he has now served. 

Petitioner asserts that the three counts of simple 

possession operate as three separate violations and therefore 

render w. Va. Code § 62-12-19(2)(B) inapplicable to Respondent. 

However, sentencing for the first count should take into 

consideration w. Va. Code § 60A-4-407, which entitles Respondent 

to a conditional discharge on the first count after six months 

a mere portion of the time he has spent incarcerated since he 

pled to simple possession. Therefore, the other two counts merit 

at least consideration of the 120-day sanction. Ultimately, the 

Parole Board's failure to consider these appropriate sanctions 

is an unconstitutional abuse of discretion that has resulted in 



Respondent's incarceration for an egregious 900 days on three 

counts of simple possession. 

C. 	Review Under the Abuse of Discretion Standard Demonstrates 
an Abuse of Discretion in the Revocation of Respondent's 
Parole 

"When reviewing the findings of fact and conclusions of law 

of a circuit court sentencing a defendant following a revocation 

of probation, we apply a three-pronged standard of review. We 

review the decision on the probation revocation motion under an 

abuse of discretion standard; the underlying facts are reviewed 

under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law and 

interpretations of statutes and rules are subject to a de novo 

review." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Inscore, 219 W.Va. 443, 634 S.E.2d 

389 (2006), citing Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Duke, 200 W.Va. 356, 489 

S.E.2d 738 (1997). Although the provisions of the Administrative 

Procedures Act, Chapter 29A, expressly do not apply to the 

Parole Board, the Court can receive guidance from the Act to 

determine that the Parole Board abused its discretion. W. Va. 

Code § 29A-5-4(g) states: 

The court may affirm the order or decision of the 
agency or remand the case for further proceedings. It 
shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision 
of the agency if the substantial rights of the 
petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because 
the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, 
decision or order are: 



(1) In violation of constitutional or statutory 

provisions; or 

(2) In excess of the statutory authority or 

jurisdiction of the agency; or 

(3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or 
(4) Affected by other error of law; or 
(5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative 
and substantial evidence on the whole record; or 
(6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse 
of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of 
discretion. 

(Emphasis added.) 

In the case at bar, the actions of the Parole Board were 

clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial 

evidence on the whole record. Absolutely no evidence was 

presented that Respondent could access to the Internet; 

Respondent did not know the password necessary to use the 

computer. 

Additionally, to the extent that the parole officer and the 

Parole Board did not follow the provisions of §62-12-19(a)(1) 

and §62-12-19(2)(B) as discussed supra, they were in violation 

of constitutional or statutory provisions and used unlawful 

procedures. To the extent that the Parole Board did not make the 

findings required by §62-12-19(2)(B), the Parole Board's actions 

were arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of 

discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. For 

all of the foregoing reasons, the Court can discern that the 

Parole Board exceeded and abused its discretion in revoking 

Respondent's parole. 



VII. CONCLUSION 

The Respondent, Bobby Ross, respectfully requests that this 

Court uphold the judgment of the Kanawha County Circuit Court from 

its Amended Final Order entered November 10, 2016 granting 

Respondent's Writ of Habeas Corpus, dismissing the underlying 

case, and reinstating Respondent to parole. 

BOBBY ROSS, Respondent 
By Counsel 

Clinton W. Smith (WVSB #3458) 
Mezzanine Suite 4 
405 Capitol Street 
Charleston, WV 25301 
(304) 343-4498